IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPEAL NO. 2007-CA-00418

FLAGSTAR BANK, FSB

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

V.

CALVIN AND JAMIE DANOS, ET AL.

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLEES

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Lamar County, Mississippi;
The Honorable R. I. Pritchard III, Circuit Judge, in *Calvin and Jamie Danos, et al. v.*
Allstate Property and Casualty Insurance, et al., Civil Action No. 2004-108P

BRIEF OF APPELLANT FLAGSTAR BANK, FSB

Camille Henick Evans (Miss. Bar No. [REDACTED])
BUTLER, SNOW, O'MARA,
STEVENS & CANNADA, PLLC
17th Floor, AmSouth Plaza
Post Office Box 22567
Jackson, Mississippi 39225-2567
(601) 948-5711
(601) 985-4500 (fax)

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT
FLAGSTAR BANK, FSB

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Did the trial court err when it entered a default judgment against Flagstar Bank, FSB for not appearing at docket call or trial when no notice of trial setting was sent by the Circuit Clerk to Flagstar, and even though the plaintiffs had not sought entry of default?

II. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it refused to set aside the default judgment and judgment against Flagstar Bank, FSB, and did it abuse its discretion in not considering the three factors for setting aside a default judgment?

III. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in not setting aside the \$500,00.00 damages award against Flagstar Bank, FSB or not apportioning damages as to Flagstar?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Flagstar Bank FSB appeals the trial court's denial of its Motion to Set Aside Default Judgments. Among other defendants, Plaintiffs sued Flagstar Bank FSB ("Flagstar"), a lending institution that for a short while held the mortgage on property and a mobile home Plaintiffs later claimed was defective. The answering defendants were all dismissed or granted summary judgment. A default judgment was entered against Flagstar on the basis "the clerk having called the dockets, and on three different occasions called the defendants [sic], Flagstar Bank FSB, and said Defendant failed to answer or appear." (R. 1344-1345; R.E. 9-10¹). The trial court entered a judgment on the basis of default and awarded \$500,000.00 jointly and severally against Flagstar and the property seller, Michael Burks.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

On March 22, 2004, Plaintiffs/Appellees Calvin and Jamie Danos filed suit in the Circuit Court of Lamar County, Mississippi against various defendants -- Allstate Property & Casualty Insurance, Coldwell Bankers Country Properties, Country Living Insurance Inc., AmeriGo Mortgage, Flagstar Bank FSB, Chris Shirley, Angela Miller, Michael Burks, and John Doe 1, 2, & 3, Shirley Roe 1, 2, & 3 and ABC Corp. 1, 2, & 3 (R. 13) -- alleging the Plaintiffs, who residents of Pearl River County, had been sold a damaged mobile home in Picayune, Mississippi, by individual defendant Michael Burks in May of 2001. The Plaintiffs served Allstate Property & Casualty Insurance ("Allstate") by service on the Mississippi Insurance Commissioner (R. 77); Coldwell Bankers Country Properties ("Coldwell Bankers") and Angela Miller, a real estate broker employed by Coldwell Bankers, in Picayune, Mississippi (R.107-110); Country Living Insurance Inc. ("Country Living"), an insurance

¹ Record Excerpts are noted as "R.E."

agency located in Poplarville, Mississippi (R. 105-106); and AmeriGo Mortgage ("AmeriGo"), a mortgage brokering agency based in Hattiesburg, Mississippi (R. 99-100), and Chris Shirley, an employee of AmeriGo based in Pass Christian, Mississippi (R. 101-102). Each of these four defendant groups² filed answers and engaged in discovery with the Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs apparently served the property seller, the individual defendant Michael Burks (R. 103-104), in a place other than his original known address, but he did not answer the pleadings.

Plaintiffs attempted to serve the non-resident corporation Flagstar Bank, FSB, a Michigan corporation with no registered agent in Mississippi, by mailing a certified letter, restricted delivery requested, to Albert Gladner, the registered agent of Flagstar *in Michigan* (R. 111-112; R.E. 68-69). However, the mail to Flagstar was not signed for by Gladner (R. 112; R.E. 69) but only by a mail clerk who did not have authority to accept service of process for Flagstar. (R. 1355-56, 1365; R.E. 16-17, 26). Flagstar did not file an answer to the pleadings.

The four answering defendant groups engaged in discovery with the Plaintiffs. On several occasions the trial court clerk issued a trial calendar or notices of pre-setting of trial, but each time these were addressed only to counsel for the Plaintiffs and counsel for Allstate, Country Living, Coldwell Bankers and Miller, and AmeriGo and Shirley. (R. 02-04, 225, 264, 850, 873, 912; R.E. 2-4, 70-74).

Depositions and motions for summary judgment occupied the parties for two years. Defendants Coldwell Bankers and Miller were the first to file a summary judgment motion on July 28, 2004 (R. 118-137, 234-263, 454-523), to which the Plaintiffs responded on August 10, 2004. (R. 142-162). Country Living then filed a motion for summary judgment on March 29,

² The four answering defendant groups were: (1) insurance company Allstate, (2) insurance agency Country Living, (3) real estate broker Coldwell Bankers and its employee Angela Miller, and (4) mortgage broker/lending originator AmeriGo and its employee Chris Shirley.

2005 (R. 265-453), but the record does not reflect any response by Plaintiffs at any time. The hearing on Coldwell Bankers' and Country Living's summary judgment motions was rescheduled several times. (R. 524-526, 528-529, 532-533, 535-537, 538-541, 570-572, 588-590). Thereafter Allstate filed a motion for summary judgment on June 3, 2005 (R. 545-556), and the June 13, 2005 hearing continued and re-noticed several times (R. (R. 557-558, 585-586). In the meantime, on June 6, 2005, Coldwell Bankers and Miller were dismissed as defendants. (R. 569). Country Living was dismissed on December 6, 2005 (R. 851) with Plaintiffs never having responded to its summary judgment motion.

On August 4, 2005, AmeriGo and Shirley filed a motion for summary judgment with extensive exhibits (R. 592-841) and noticed the motion for hearing (R. 842-843), but Hurricane Katrina caused some delays in scheduling and further depositions. Several times Allstate's and AmeriGo's summary judgment motions were re-noticed for hearing (R. 853-855, 871-872, 909-911, 913-915) and trial continuances were granted (R. 864-870, 887-891, 893-898), but it was not until September 5, 2006, that Plaintiffs responded to Allstate's motion for summary judgment (R. 1174-1318). Plaintiffs never responded to AmeriGo and Shirley's summary judgment motion that had been filed over a year earlier.

On September 11, 2006, Allstate's and AmeriGo's motions were to be argued. (R. 909, 913). September 11, 2006 was also the date of the docket call before the court's trial calendar.³ (R. 912). On that date the trial court signed an Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment as to AmeriGo and Shirley, finding that "the Plaintiffs have no grounds to oppose the motion." (R. 1337-1338; R.E. 88-89). The next day the trial court signed a Memorandum Opinion and Final Judgment granting Allstate's motion for summary judgment. (R. 1339-1343; R.E. 90-94). The Plaintiffs did not appeal from these adverse rulings.

³ The trial was set for September 19, 2006, following the September 11, 2006 docket call. (R. 912).

At the same time the summary judgments were granted, Plaintiffs applied for entry of default against the individual Burks, and, on the same date of September 11, 2006, the trial court clerk filed an Entry of Default against Michael Burks "only." (R. 1333-1336, 1366A-1367; R.E. 28-31). Plaintiffs did not similarly apply for entry of default against Flagstar. On September 21, 2006, the trial court signed a "Default Judgment" against Flagstar, stating:

This Cause having come before the Court for trial on the merits, and the clerk having called the docket, and on three different occasions called the Defendants, Flagstar Bank FSB, and said Defendant failed to answer or appear, it is therefore

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Default Judgment be and is hereby entered against the Defendant, Flagstar Bank FSB and in favor of the Plaintiffs pursuant to Rule 55(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

(R. 1344; R.E. 9). In that same order the trial court set a hearing on damages to be held on September 29, 2006. (*Id.*). This default judgment signed on September 21, 2006 was not filed with the Clerk until several days later, September 25, 2006. The trial court held a hearing on September 29, 2006, attended only by the Plaintiffs, and allowed Plaintiffs to make a presentation of exhibits and brief testimony. (TR.⁴ at 1-16; R.E. 95-111). The trial court then entered a Judgment awarding Plaintiffs the amount of \$500,000.00 against Defendants Burks and Flagstar "jointly and severally." (R. 1345; R.E. 10).

Flagstar was mailed the default judgment and judgment in late September, 2006 (R. 05; R.E. 5). Flagstar thereafter obtained counsel and filed a Motion to Set Aside Default Judgments and for Additional Relief on November 15, 2006, challenging the default judgment of September 26, 2006, and the Judgment of September 29, 2006. (R. 1353-1382; R.E. 14-46). Plaintiff responded to the motion on March 2, 2007 (R. 1393-1406; R.E. 47-60), and Flagstar

⁴ The transcript consisting of seventeen (17) pages is contained in Volume 12 of the Record.

submitted a rebuttal on March 8, 2007 (R. 1419-1425; R.E. 61-67). Although counsel appeared for a hearing on March 12, 2007 (R. 1387, 1390), the trial judge had prepared a proposed Memorandum Opinion and Order and no hearing on the record was conducted. The trial judge entered the Memorandum Opinion and Order on March 12, 2007, denying Flagstar's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgments. (R. 1426-1428; R.E. 11-13).

Flagstar timely filed its Notice of Appeal on March 15, 2007, appealing from the March 12, 2007 denial of its Motion to Set Aside Default Judgments and for Other Relief (R. 1429-1430; R.E. 7-8), and obtained a stay from the Supreme Court after Plaintiffs demanded payment of the full judgment plus interest. (R. 1442).

C. Statement of the Facts

The Plaintiffs Calvin and Jamie Danos and family ("Danos") decided to purchase a mobile home and 8.12 acres of property in Picayune, Mississippi, in March 2001. As the trial court found in ruling on Allstate's motion for summary judgment, which was incorporated into the Order which is the subject of this appeal (R. 1426; R.E. 11):

This case arises out of an alleged sale of a defective manufactured home and the subsequent denial of insurance coverage. On or about March 23, 2001 the Plaintiffs, Calvin and Jamie Danos, offered to purchase a manufactured home and the surrounding acreage from Michael Burks, through their realtor Angela Miller, subject to obtaining financing.

In an effort to obtain financing, the plaintiffs contacted Chris Shirley with AmeriGo Mortgage and began the process of obtaining the necessary financing, which included procuring an appraisal and insurance. At the request of the plaintiffs, Shirley contacted an appraiser who agreed to conduct the appraisal. After the appraisal was conducted the plaintiffs contacted Country Living Insurance, Inc., who after receiving the appraisal subsequently issued a policy though Allstate Insurance.

(R. 1339-1340; R.E. 90-91).

The Danoses closed on the mobile home and acreage on May 9, 2001. (R. 1340). Flagstar Bank FSB ("Flagstar") was one of 20 or 30 lenders to whom AmeriGo sold loans it originated, and Flagstar "ended up" with buying the loan to the Danoses in 2001. (R. 996, 1002, 1008-1009).

Several months after the sale of the property, after Tropical Storm Allison had dumped heavy rains in the area in June 2001, the Danos family noticed water coming into the mobile home and even later they discovered mold in the mobile home. The Danoses sought help from their real estate agent Miller, the seller Burks, and their insurance company Allstate for the water leaks and mold. They alleged several misrepresentations in March 2001 by the seller Burks as to the condition of the mobile home, and that they had relied on the seller's representations as to age of the mobile home, age of the roof on the mobile home, any infestations in the mobile home, and any leaks or other problems with the roof. (R. 15). This lawsuit was filed in 2004 against Allstate as the insurance company on the policy the Danoses obtained, Country Living the insurance agency through whom they obtained the Allstate policy, Coldwell Bankers and Miller as the real estate brokers, AmeriGo Mortgage and Chris Shirley as the mortgage brokers who helped in arranging financing of the purchase, Michael Burks as the seller of the allegedly damaged mobile home, and Flagstar Bank which had funded the mortgage to the Plaintiffs. (R. 13-23).

In the Complaint (R. 13-23), Flagstar is mentioned only twice. The first mention is in Paragraph 9, in which the registered agent for service of process in Michigan (not Mississippi), Albert Gladner, is named. (R. 14). The only other mention of Flagstar in the Complaint is in Count VI, Paragraph 45, for which the cause of action is not identified:

At all material times hereto, the defendant Angela Miller was acting as agent and employee of Coldwell Banker as well as the

seller, Michael Burks. Defendant Chris Shirley, at all material times, was acting as agent and employee of Amerigo Mortgage and Flagstar Bank FSB. While acting as agents for Coldwell Banker, Amerigo Mortgage, and Flagstar Bank, defendant Miller and Shirley submitted false and erroneous information to their principals, as well as Allstate Property and Casualty.

(R. 22). No conduct by Flagstar was alleged in any manner; Plaintiffs simply alleged that information by others was submitted to Flagstar. (*See Id.*). The next paragraph 46 states only that "[b]ut for the submission of said false and material information, this real estate transaction would not have closed due to the inability of the property to qualify either for a loan or for insurance." (R. 22).

Flagstar is a banking and mortgage lending company in Troy, Michigan, that funds mortgages meeting its underwriting guidelines. (R. 1361; R.E. 22). Flagstar is not a resident corporation of Mississippi and does not have branches in Mississippi, nor does it have a registered agent for service of process in Mississippi. (R. 1356; R.E. 17). Plaintiffs attempted to serve the non-resident corporation Flagstar under Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(c) (5) by certified mail, restricted delivery, to Albert Gladner the registered agent of Flagstar *in Michigan* (R. 111-112; R.E. 68-69). However, the mail receipt to Flagstar was not signed by Gladner (R. 112; R.E. 69) but only by a mail clerk named Romeo Pena, who did not have authority to accept service of process for Flagstar and who was not an agent for Albert Gladner. (R. 1355-56, 1365-66; R.E. 16-17, 26-27).

The lawsuit proceeded against the four answering defendant groups as noted *supra* in the Course of Proceedings, with dismissals or summary judgments granted to each of the defendant groups following substantial discovery. AmeriGo and Shirley filed a comprehensive motion for summary judgment (R. 592-841, 916-1170), to which the Plaintiffs never responded, and the trial court signed an Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment as to AmeriGo and Shirley, finding that "the Plaintiffs have no grounds to oppose the motion." (R.

1337-1338; R.E. 88-89). The trial court thereafter issued a Memorandum Opinion and Final Judgment granting Allstate's motion for summary judgment (R. 1339-1343; R.E. 90-94), specifically finding:

Here, the Court finds that any alleged failure to properly inspect by Allstate, before issuing the policy, which resulted in damages, is outside the circle of foreseeability. While obtaining insurance was a prerequisite to obtaining financing, there is no evidence that the plaintiffs would not have consummated the purchase with another insurer, or sought alternative financing.

(R. 1342; R.E. 93).

On September 21, 2006, after entering summary judgments for the other defendants, the Circuit Court of Lamar County entered a default judgment against Defendant Flagstar, stating:

This Cause having come before the Court for trial on the merits, and the clerk having called the docket, and on three different occasions called the Defendants, Flagstar Bank FSB, and said Defendant failed to answer or appear, it is therefore

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Default Judgment be and is hereby entered against the Defendant, Flagstar Bank FSB and in favor of the Plaintiffs pursuant to Rule 55(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. It is further

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the hearing on damages be and is hereby set over to September 29, 2006 at 11:00 A.M. at the Lamar County Courthouse in Purvis, Mississippi.

(R. 1344; R.E. 9).

The circuit court held a hearing on September 29, 2006, in which it took testimony and exhibits from the Plaintiffs Danos and their counsel. (TR. 1-16; R.E. 95-111) At the start of the

hearing, the trial court again stated its belief that Flagstar had been notified of the trial date: "Let the record show that this case was set for trial and the Clerk duly notified all the parties of the trial date. And not only have the defendants, Michael Burks and Flagstar Bank, not filed anything in this matter, but neither defendant appeared on the date the case was set for trial." (TR. at 2; R.E. 97)(emphasis added). Contrary to these assertions, Flagstar had not received any notification of the September 2006 trial nor of the hearing and, consequently, it was not present. The trial court entered a Judgment on September 29, 2006, stating that the matter came on for hearing on the motion of the Plaintiff for default judgment against Michael Burks and Flagstar, and again holding that "the case having been called for trial on the merits and neither Defendant having appeared or pled or otherwise defended . . . and neither Defendant having appeared for trial on the merits" (R. 1345; R.E. 10). The trial court set the damages at \$500,000.00 -- half a million dollars -- against Burks and Flagstar *jointly and severally*. (R. 1345, TR. at 14; R.E. 10, 109).

The trial court denied Flagstar's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgments and for Additional Relief finding "[t]he basis for the Judgment was that the defendant failed to appear for a trial on the merits, and that on three different docket calls, the defendant had failed to appear, or make any announcement." (R. 1426; R.E. 11).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A default judgment is a drastic, disfavored measure that is contrary to the strong policy of this State in favor of resolving cases on their merits. The Mississippi Supreme Court has declared "[t]o be sure, default judgments are not favored and trial courts should not be grudging

in the granting of orders vacating such judgment where showings within the rules have arguably been made.” *McCain v. Dauzat*, 791 So. 2d 839, 842 (Miss. 2001); *see also King v. Sigrest*, 641 So. 2d 1158, 1161 (Miss. 1994) (“[d]efault judgments are not favored, and trial judges have traditionally been lenient when it comes to relieving a party of the burden of a default judgment.”); *American Cable Corp. v. Trilogy Communications, Inc.*, 754 So. 2d 545, 552 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (default judgments are not favored). Yet in this case the trial court was grudging and denied Flagstar's motion to set aside a default judgment and judgment of \$500,000.00 even though a "showing within the rules" was made.

First, the trial court erred by entering a default judgment against Flagstar for not appearing at a docket call or trial when no notice of such docket calls or trial settings had ever been sent by the Circuit Clerk to Flagstar. The trial court premised the default judgment and judgment on the belief the "clerk duly notified all the parties of the trial date" (TR. 2; R.E. 97) and that Flagstar failed to appear at the trial. (R. 1426; R.E. 11). The record shows, however, that the Clerk did not send any trial notice or docket call to Flagstar (R. 2-4, 225, 264, 850, 873, 912; R.E. 2-4, 70-74). Rather, the clerk only sent notices to counsel for the answering defendants, and each time the clerk did not send a notice to Flagstar. The specific basis for the court's ruling of default and subsequent denial of the motion to set aside default is contrary to the record itself. The trial court also erred in issuing a "default judgment" when the Plaintiffs had not first sought an entry of default under Miss. R. Civ. P. 55(a). One of the purposes of an entry of default is to then provide the defaulting party with notice of a hearing before the court ascertains the measure of recovery and enters a default judgment. See Comment to Miss. R. Civ. P. 55. Flagstar was not afforded this opportunity because of the trial court's mistaken belief that trial notices were previously sent to Flagstar.

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