IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT
PLAINTIFFS/APPELLEES
mar County, Mississippi; a Calvin and Jamie Danos, et al. v. l., Civil Action No. 2004-108P DIAMIE DANOS, ET AL.

CATHERINE H. JACOBS Attorney at Law 425 Porter Avenue Ocean Springs, MS 39564 (228) 872-7004 FAX: (228) 872-7006 STATE:

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES CALVIN AND JAMIE DANOS, ET AL.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPEAL NO. 2007-CA-00418

FLAGSTAR BANK, FSB

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

VS.

CALVIN AND JAMIE DANOS, ET AL.

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

of the record in the underlying case because they were not presented to the trial judge in connection with this motion, as required by <u>Capital One Services</u>.

The defendant's argument that the default judgment against Flagstar was improperly taken is specious. Flagstar's first attack on the process relates to its contention that it should have received notice of the trial setting or judgment could not be entered against it on the day of the hearing. This is not true. Under Rule 40 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, notice of trial dockets and trial settings do not have to be served upon parties who have failed to make an appearance in the action. *Stinson v. Stinson*, 738 So.2d 1259 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). Moreover, pursuant to the Local Rules of Lamar County, each party to a lawsuit is required to attend calls of the general docket to make announcements with respect to their cases. Rule 5 of the Local Rules of the Fifteenth Circuit Court District (Appendix A). Failure to abide by these Rules can, and has, resulted in sanctions including dismissal and default, as the Rule itself provides. No notices of the call of the general docket are sent to attorneys. Rather they know, pursuant to Rule 5, that the general docket is called the first Monday of each term of court in each County, and they are expected to be there. Notice to Flagstar simply is not an issue.

The next defect alleged by Flagstar in the process of default is the Plaintiff's failure to obtain a clerk's entry of default pursuant to Rule 55(a). However, this default was not taken pursuant to Rule 55(a). As the record will show, Flagstar, upon receiving the Summons and Complaint, sent a letter to Plaintiffs' counsel indicating that it had received the Summons and Complaint and advising that the loan in question had been sold to Chase Manhatten. Although the letter came from Flagstar's legal department, the attorneys never sent the letter to the court nor did they file an answer. The letter to Plaintiffs' counsel, prevented the use of Rule 55(a) to obtain the Clerk's Entry of

Default. As part of Rule 55(a), an attorney is required to submit an affidavit swearing that the defendant in default has not served a copy of any answer or other defense which he might have upon the undersigned attorney of record for the Plaintiff. Form 36, M. R. Civ. P. Because of the letter from Flagstar, the affidavit required by Rule 55(a) was inappropriate and inapplicable.

However, as the comments to Rule 55 show, Rule 55(a) is not the only path to a default judgment. In this instance, conduct such as the failure to appear at general calls of the docket and failure to appear at trial can serve as the basis for a default judgment without a clerk's entry pursuant to Rule 55(a). *Sartain v. White*, 588 So.2d 204 (Miss. 1991); *Hood v. Mordecai*, 900 So.2d 370 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) *cert. denied* 898 So.2d 679 (Miss. 2005). That day, the Plaintiffs applied for, and received, a default judgment and pursuant to Rule 55(b), they were not required to provide Flagstar with three days notice.

Flagstar was, however, provided with a notice of the court's default judgment entered on September 21st when it was mailed to Flagstar by the clerk on September 25, 2006. That Order contained a provision setting the case over to be heard on the issue of damages on September 29, 2006. Flagstar failed to appear at this hearing and after the hearing the evidence on damages, judgment was entered in favor of the Plaintiffs for \$500,000.00. Notice of this judgment was sent to Flagstar, which eventually made an appearance in the action on October 11, 2006 and yet, it waited over a month to file its Rule 60(b) motion and in the meantime, allowed the time to take a direct appeal to run.

Flagstar's final argument is that the Court improperly balanced the factors and must consider in determining whether to set the default judgment aside. Before the trial court, Flagstar argued that good cause, one of the factors, existed because the judgment was void for insufficiency of service

or process and default was improperly taken. These issues have already been addressed. In fact, good cause is defined as (1) the nature and legitimacy of the defendant's reason for default. *McCain* v. *Dauzat*, 791 So.2d 839, 843. The issue of sufficiency of process had nothing to do with the defendant's reason for default. There is no question that Flagstar's legal department received notice of the Summons and Complaint, since it acknowledged receipt in a letter to Plaintiffs' counsel. It negligently filed to fail an answer with the Clerk of Court thereby subjecting itself to default. This act of negligence on the part of Flagstar was compounded over and over by its subsequent conduct. It received a copy of the default judgment entered against it no later than October 4, 2006. At this time, the ten day period for filing a motion for *jnov*, or new trial, had not yet expired. Flagstar, however, waited until October 11, 2006, to enter an appearance in this case. It then waited until November 15, 2006, to file its motion under Rule 60(b) to set aside the verdict. In the meantime, time to take a direct appeal of the adverse judgment had expired on October 29, 2006.

In support of its Rule 60(b) motion, Flagstar declined to engage in any discovery to obtain evidence to support its Rule 60(b) motion and then declined the opportunity presented by the court to present witnesses and other evidence in support of its motion. In <u>Stringfellow v. Stringfellow</u>, 451 So.2d 219, 221 (Miss. 1984), the Mississippi Supreme Court ruled that in order to obtain relief under Rule 60(b), a litigant must present an adequate showing of exceptional circumstances, and neither ignorance nor carelessness on the part of an attorney will provide grounds for relief. In order to prevail, the defaulted party must show that he was justified in failing to avoid mistake or inadvertence. There is no proof at all that Flagstar can justify any of its behavior in allowing one deadline after another to run and failing to present the courts with a factual basis to overturn the default. Therefore, good cause has not been shown.

The next prong of the balancing tests used by trial courts in determining whether to set aside the default judgment is whether the defendant has a colorable defense to the merits of the claim.

McCain v. Dauzat, 791 So.2d @ 843. The decision to set aside a default judgment because of a meritorious defense is left to the sound discretion of the trial court and subject to the abuse of discretion standard. Williams v. Kilgore, 618 So.2d 51, 55 (Miss. 1992). Since no evidence was presented to the trial court to support Flagstar's claim that it had a colorable defense, the court was within reason when it found that the equities still required the judgment to be upheld.

Finally, there is the question of prejudice to the Plaintiffs. The defendant argues that the Plaintiffs suffered no prejudice because there is no liability. This is not the case. If the default judgment were set aside and remanded, the Plaintiffs would be given the opportunity to conduct discovery. Since thousands of dollars have already been spent, and since nearly two years were consumed in the litigation of this matter already, to say that the Plaintiffs would not be prejudiced by setting the judgment aside is meaningless. While the defendants could use any of the depositions in the case against the Plaintiffs, the Plaintiffs could not ;use any of the depositions in the case against the defendant. After enduring already two years of litigation, the Plaintiffs would be forced to endure many more months. That does not include the time and effort already spent defending this appeal and the time it will take for a ruling to become final. The defendant bears the burden of proving lack of prejudice on the part of the Plaintiffs and this it has failed to do.

Having set forth no reason to reverse the decision of the trial judge that this default should not be set aside, the Plaintiffs respectfully submit that the court's ruling on the Rule 60(b) motion to set this judgment aside be affirmed.

III. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Motions for relief, under Rule 60(b), are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and appellate review is limited to whether that discretion has been abused. Stringfellow v. Stringfellow, 451 So. 2d 219, 221 (Miss. 1984). When ruling on these motions, "a balance must be struck between granting a litigant a hearing on the merits with the need and desire to achieve finality in litigation." Id. In order to obtain relief under Rule 60(b), a litigant must present an adequate showing of exceptional circumstances, and neither ignorance nor carelessness on the part of an attorney will provide grounds for relief. The party must show that he was justified in failing to avoid mistake or inadvertence and gross negligence, ignorance of the rules, or ignorance of the law is not enough. Id. See, also, Fed. Pract. & Procedure, Section 2858, p. 170. Eleven Wright & Miller. In Stringfellow, the Mississippi Supreme Court quoted Clark v. Burkle, 70 F. 2d 824, 831 (5th Circuit 1978), for the proposition that a judgment resulting from incompetence or ignorance on the part of an attorney employed by the parties seeking relief is never enough. The denial of a motion to set aside a default judgment will be disturbed only where the trial court has abused its discretion. McCain v. Dauzat, 791 So. 2d 839, 842 (Miss. 2001); Guaranty Nat'l Ins. Co. v. Pittman, 501 So.2d 377, 388 (Miss. 1987).

B. WHAT EVIDENCE AND ISSUES ARE VIABLE ON THIS APPEAL

On this appeal, the Defendant has raised issues that were never presented a the trial court. First, it claims that it was entitled to notice of trial settings, a point never raised below. Second, it argues that the judgment is void because of insufficiency of service of process, which was raised below only in the context of constituting good cause, and finally, it challenges the amount

of damages and the form of the verdict, which were issues never raised below. When the standard of review to set aside a default judgment is whether the trial court abused its discretion, it seems only fair that the trial court be presented with the opportunity to rule on such matters before this Court will consider them. Indeed, the general rule is that issues may not be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>Bechtel Power Corp. v. MMC Materials. Inc.</u>, 830 So.2d 672, 676 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002); <u>Read v. Southern Pine Elec. Power Ass'n</u>, 515 So.2d 916, 921 (Miss. 1987).

An issue this Court must decide is whether by failing to take a direct appeal, the defendant limited the evidence this Court can consider in an appeal of a Rule 60(b) motion.

In <u>McCain v. Dauzat</u>, the Supreme Court made it clear that a challenge to a judgment under Rule 60(b) clearly contemplates a hearing to enable the defendant to present whatever evidence he desires to support his position that a judgment should be overturned. In this case, Flagstar attached exhibits to its motion to set the default judgment aside. (R.E.26-46; R.1365-85) A hearing on the motion was set by the Court for March 12, 2007, nearly three months after the motion was filed. During this three month period, the Plaintiffs attempted to engage in discovery believing that Flagstar would do the same. Instead, when Plaintiffs asked for depositions, Flagstar replied that it would engage in discovery only if required to do so by order of the Court since a final judgment had already been entered. (R.E.59-60; R.1405-06)

At the hearing, Judge Prichard asked Flagstar whether it had any witnesses to call or exhibits that it wished to introduce into evidence. Flagstar indicated that it had no witnesses and no additional evidence to consider other than the documents attached to its motion. Having squandered its right to answer and defend on the merits, its right to file a motion for JNOV or new trial, its right to take a direct appeal, Flagstar then squandered its opportunity to present the court with competent

evidence to support its position that the judgment entered against it should be set aside. This court shall consider the evidence presented in support of the Rule 60(b) motion and no more. *Capital One*Services v. Rawls, 904 So.2d 1010 (Miss. 2004).

In <u>Brown v. State</u>, 965 So.2d 1023, 1027 (Miss. 2007), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that it "will not consider matters that do not appear in the record, and it must confine its review to what appears in the record." quoting <u>Pulphus v. State</u>, 782 So.2d 1220, 1224 (Miss. 2001). In this case, the record on the Rule 60(b) motion does not include many of the materials that Flagstar now relies upon to challenge the judgment. It is respectfully submitted that since Flagstar failed to give the trial judge the opportunity to consider matters in the record developed by other parties at the Rule 60(b) hearing, this Defendant should not now be allowed to rely on this information for the first time on appeal.

C. THE COURT'S PROPERLY DEFAULTED FLAGSTAR

From the Defendant's arguments in support of it claim that default was improperly entered, it is clear that Flagstar is not familiar with the local rules governing practice in Lamar county. Flagstar believes it cannot be faulted for failing to attend docket calls because it received no notice. However, anyone who practices regularly there knows that Rule 5 of the Local Rules of the Fifteenth Circuit Court District requires attendance at Docket calls for which the only notice is the Court's term calendar. It provides:

All other cases then pending in each county which are not listed on either the trial calendar or trial docket shall be maintained on the general docket in and for said county. That on the first Monday of each court term, in and for each county, the general docket shall be called by the Court. At the call of the general docket, each attorney shall be required to make an appropriate announcement, which announcement shall be limited to the following; (1) the case may be set for trial or for preliminary matters, (2) the case may be dismissed, (3) a default judgment may be taken, (4) the case may be set for call

on the last Friday of the term, and (5) the case may be continued for good cause shown. (Appendix A)

If a party or his attorney fail to appear at the call of the docket, the case may be dismissed (if it is the Plaintiff) or if a Defendant, he can be defaulted. Similarly Rules 3 and 4 of the Local Rules address the court's trial docket and repeat, more or less, the provisions of Rule 40 M.R.Civ.P. While Rule 40 requires notice of trial dockets and settings, as the Judge noted in his opinion, these do not have to be served on parties who have not entered an appearance. *Stinson v.Stinson*, 738 So.2d 1259 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

Nearly all of the local rules of the Fifteenth Circuit Court District are designed to insure the orderly progression of cases and to give the judges a good handle on their dockets. It is because of these rules that Judge Prichard, in his opinion on the Rule 60 motion, referenced Flagstar's failure to attend the docket calls. With or without a notice from the clerk, attorneys and parties know to be there and learn quickly that there can be dire consequences if they are not. The judge committed no "plain error" here as Flagstar maintains. To the contrary, it is standard operating procedure in Lamar County to require attorneys and parties to attend docket calls with and without notice from the clerk, and it is one of the most efficient trial courts in Mississippi.

In further support of its position that the lower court erred when it granted a default judgment, Flagstar maintains that the Plaintiffs' failure to file an entry of default before applying for default is fatal. However, as is recognized in the comments to M.R.Civ.P.Rule 55, Rule 55(a) is not the "only source of authority in these rules for the

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